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GEN. JAMES A. WILLIAMSON.
BY MAJOR GENERAL G. M. DODGE.

Brigadier General James Alexander Williamson, a dis-
tinguished soldier and citizen of the State of Iowa, died at
Jamestown, Rhode Island, on September 7, 1902.

As a long-time friend and comrade of Greneral William-
son, and as a citizen of Iowa, it is a pleasure to me to pay
the tribute that this distinguished soldier is entitled to, and
to make -of record his services as a citizen and a soldier.

He was born February 8, 1829, in Columbia, Adair
county, Kentucky, of good Scotch-English ancestry. When
but a child of three years of age he was taken by his mother,.
recently become a widow, with the family and the maternal
grandparents, to a little settlement on White river, near In--
dianapolis, Indiana, where he spent his younger days in cul-.
tivating the soil, and overcoming the hardships endured by
pioneers of those days.

When a boy of fifteen years, young Williamson, with his.
people, again migrated westward to the territory of Iowa.
They moved in prairie schooners with ox teams, over the fer-
tile lands of Illinois and into what is now known as Keokuk
county, Iowa, one year before it became a State. He did a.
man’s work while yet a boy, laboring hard that every oppor-
tunity should be improved in the way of study. and the read-
ing of such books as were available in a new land, and fitted
himself to enter Knox college, at Galesburg, Ill., from which.
he graduated. He then went to the little town of Lancas-
ter, Keokuk county, where he read law in the office of a fel-
low townsman, and soon acquired a good practice. He also-
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became interested in various enterprises incident to the de-
velopment of a new country. He soon obtained the confi-
dence of the people in his town, and was sent to Boston and
‘New York to purchase goods for the business men,

In 1853, when twenty-four years old, he married Miss
Ann W. Gregory, of Birmingham, Van Buren county. A
little more than & year later he took his wife and child to
Fort Des Moines, where he became interested in the real
estate and banking business,

In 1855 he was a prominent factor in the removal of the
State capital from Iowa City to Des Moines, and it was
largely through his efforts that this was accomplished. It is
a matter of great regret to many citizens of Iowa that he
was not permitted to write the story of this event, as he had
promised to do for the ANNALs oF Towa.

The political views of General Williamson in these years,
1855-1860, were Democratic. In 1860 he was a delegate to
the national convention in Baltimore, which nominated
Douglas and Johnson.

The same year Williamson was chairman of the Demo-
cratic State Committee of the State of Iowa, and, as such
chairman, called a convention of all persons who wished to
avert a civil war, which met in Des Moines in the winter of
1860-61. Few of the large number of persons attending
this convention believed there was any danger of war, and
they were unwilling to seriously consider the question; but
having been born in a slave state, it was Williamson’s firm be-
lief that war was inevitable, and from the hour when the first
gun was fired in the cause of rebellion no one doubted where
he stood. He began to put his business affairs in‘order, and
when the call came he recruited a few men at Des Moines,
and with a few others that were recruited by Judge Reed in
Dallas county, they were sent to Council Bluffs and were
made a part of what was known as the “Dodge Battery,”
which I was raising at the time I raised the Fourth Iowa.
Hon. Caleb Baldwin, a judge of the Supreme Court of Iowa,
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and a personal friend of mine, and also of Williamson, recom-
mended him for the position of adjutant of the Fourth Iowa.
‘Williamson told Judge Baldwin that if he did not get a com-
mission he would enlist as a private in one of the companies
of the regiment, if it was not full. "I did not know William-
son personally, but upon Judge Baldwin’s recommendation
was glad to accept him. He came to me with a letter from
Judge Baldwin or Governor Kirkwood, I forget which,
which spoke very highly of him.

Soon after he reported and was mustered in, the regiment
moved to St. Louis, and camped at Jefterson barracks. It
had no arms, tents, uniforms, blankets, cooking utensils—in
fact, nothing but the clothes the men had brought with them
from their homes. We were immediately sent from St.
Louis to Rolla, and the regiment landed there destitute of
every necessity, except guns sufficient to mount guard. On
arriving at Rolla, I immediately sent Williamson to St. Louis
to obtain the necessary equipment for the regiment. In
describing his difficulties in carrying out his orders, he said:

I entered upon an experience in the line of duty that was at least novel
and unusual, and if I could make a faithful pen or word picture of it I
feel sure that but few would believe me. I had been unable even to pro-
.cure a uniform for myself, and I had to appear, or try to appear, before
Major General John C. Fremont, commanding, in citizen’s clothes, having
nothing about me but my ordersto indicate that I belonged to the military
-gervice. I never saw General Fremont, although I had appointments with
him at unseemly hours. On the occasion of my first or second call I had
handed to the chief of staff a correct and proper statement of my business,
setting forth the condition of the regiment, and its imperative wants, be-
fore it could possibly be of any service to the government. An appoint-
ment would be arranged for some unseemly hour, say six o’clock and
twenty-three minutes a. m., or some such time, and I was always at the
entrance to the headquarters, watch in hand, at the time stated, only to be
met by.the guard and halted, who, when I explained that I had an appoint-
ment with the general commanding, would give an incredulous smile and
deny me admission, saying that the general did not see any person until
noon, or some later hour. After many weary days I obtained orders for
such equipage as could then be had. I procured canteens from a station-
.ery store, clothing from a hardware firm, camp kettles and cooking uten-
sils from dry goods stores, not getting an article from a house that would
‘ordinarily be. dealing in the goods furnished. I drew muskets from the
arsenal, ete. °
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These muskets were of Prussian make, and many of them
burst at the first firing, and were more dangerous at their
butts than at their muzzles.

Lieutenant Williamson was on duty as adjutant of the
Fourth Iowa Infantry. He had no military training, prac-
tical or theoretical, in fact, was absolutely green in the duties
of an adjutant, and naturally made many mistakes, but he
studied hard and was anxious to learn, and was ready to
obtain knowledge from everybody in the regiment. There
were some officers and enlisted men who had had some
experience, and some who had made a study of the tactics,
but who had no practical use of them, and there were others
who had at-some time been in the regular army. All of
these I endeavored to utilize in drilling the regiment, and
from these and others there often came quite severe criti-
cisms of Williamson, although they never reached my ears,
officially, and not much attention was paid to them, as we
were busy drilling the regiment.

Soon after Williamson returned from St. Louis the offi-
cers of the regiment all signed a petition asking him to re-
sign as adjutant on account of his inexperience. The peti-
tion was presented by Lieutenant Nichols, an officer who had
made a study of tactics, and was bright, but like many others
had only the experience he had obtained since joining the
regiment, but in the drilling I had given the regiment he had
become efficient. This action of the officers greatly annoyed
Williamson, but I had seen enough of him to know how val-
uable an officer he was, and instructed him to detail other
officers to perform the duties of adjutant on dress parade.
While many of them were up in tactics, not having served
in that capacity, they all made mistakes when they came out
at dress parade; this relieved Williamson of much of the
criticism he had been receiving, and the officers whe signed
this petition, after themselves having an opportunity to per-
form the duties personally, were much more lenient in their
judgment of Williamson. I know that Lieutenant Nichols,
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who was an excellent officer, and afterwards became lieuten-
ant colonel and colonel of the regiment, became a very warm
friend and supporter of Williamson. He, like many others
when they presented the petition to him, did not fully ap-
preciate the duties which fall to an adjutant. A short time
afterwards many of the officers, seeing Williamson’s atten-
tion to his duties and his interest in the regiment, made and
signed this endorsement on the petition: “We, the under-
signed, having become-satisfied of the competency of Adju-
tant Williamson, and being pleased to acknowledge his ear-
nest desire to discharge his duty, as an act of justice, with-
draw our names from the within petition, expressing the hope
that our intercourse may belong and pleasant.” This ended
the controversy.
Williamson, in writing about this afterwards, said:

On this occasion I required all my strength to keep myself under con-
trol. Colonel Dodge uttered no speech to the committee; he said abso-
lutely nothing; silence reigned until the end of the dinner. I finally broke
the silence by saying to him, “Well! what shall I do?” His reply was,
‘“‘Attend to the duties of your office.” I have always regarded this as a
most friendly act, and the one having a greater bearing on my military
life than any other that ever came tome. If Colonel Dodge had hesitated,
or said less than he did, I should, of course, have handed in my resignation.

During the winter of 1861-2, the regiment started on the
Pea Ridge campaign as a part of General Curtis’ army of the
southwest. In that campaign I commanded a brigade, in
which the Fourth Iowa was one of the regiments and Wil-
liamson was detailed as my adjutant. At the same time I
kept full control of the regiment, and he kept his hands upon
all the regimental details. 'We made a steady march until
we reached Springfield. The enemy, under Price, were sup-
posed to be occupying Springfield, and we lined up one night
about midnight for the purpose of moving upon and attack-
ing Springfield at daylight. We had put out our skirmish
lines, and I can distinctly remember hearing Sigel’s artillery
on our right. The night was dark and I lost my skirmish
line and sent Williamson after it. He was unable to find it,
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and we were in great distress, ¢hinking the enemy had cap-
tured it, but about daylight we saw men coming towards us,
several of them mounted on horses, and in different costumes.
The skirmish line had skirmished into Springfield, and find-
ing no enemy there had taken the leavings of the Confeder-
ate army, and were coming out to us in great glee, so that
our whole attack upon Springfield was a farce.

From Springfield we pushed on very rapidly, being occa-
sionally halted as we went along by Price’s rear guard, and
never being able to bring his army into line of battle, though
we were often forced into line of battle by the demonstra-
tions of their rear guard, until we reached the country south
of Cassville and Benton, where we rested until March 5,
when we were aroused and moved back in the night to Sugar
Creek, the enemy under Van Dorn being reported as moving
north to flank us.

On the first day of the battle of Pea Ridge, while we
were facing south, and lined up behind Sugar Creek, build-
ing entrenchments, one of the officers of Colonel Phelps’
Twenty-sixth Missouri infantry reported to me that the ene-
my were passing around our right flank to our rear; that on
the road they were taking to Cassville there was a ravine, or
what was known as “Cross Hollow,” which could easily be
obstructed and detain their march. I immediately reported
this to General Curtis, and he at once instructed me to detail
a force and go there and obstruct the road. I made a detail,
and with this officer as guide, went to the spot and spent
some time felling trees across the road, and making such
obstructions as were possible, as the enemy were at that time
coming down the road, and two companies of my own regi-
ment that had followed us had in the dark failed to find us; we
thought they had been cut off by the enemy, but they came
into camp all right. General Price, in his report, gives this
as one of the reasons for not attacking us at daylight. In
referring to this, Williamson says:
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Regardless of all opinions, I have always thought and believed that the -
cutting of this timber saved Curtis’ army from defeat. The enemy could
easily have gotten into position, and had choice of the ground upon which
to fight long before daylight, and could, and perhaps would have brought
on the battle at daylight, which would have been a surprise.

The delaying of General Price’s command gave General
Curtis an opportunity and time to change his entire line from
Sugar Creek, facing south, to Elkhorn Tavern line, facing
north.

In the battle of Pea Ridge, in which the Fourth Iowa
took so conspicuous a part, and for which it received so much
credit, Williamson’s conduct won the commendation and
friendship of the regiment. My brigade remained on the
field facing and fighting the enemy from the position we
took in the morning until nearly dark, while the other brig-
ade, which was posted at Elkhorn Tavern, was forced to fall
back. Along towards night, not hearing any firing in that
direction, I sent Williamson over to find Colonel Carr, who
commanded the division, and ascertain what was going on.
The enemy appeared to be on both my flanks, and I did not
understand how they got around my left flank. Williamson
ran into a column of the enemy that had been coming up the
Elkhorn Tavern road, and was actually in our rear, and re-
ceived their point blank fire without being hit. He came
back and informed me of our condition; we were virtually
surrounded, and I immediately drew out my brigade. My
losses had been very heavy, in fact, there was not a field offi-
cer left in my command except myself. In falling back we
passed very near to a column of the enemy; they evidently
did not know who we were, but supposed us to be a portion
of their own force and allowed us to pass on by them without
‘making any demonstration. When we had fallen back close to
the new line that was occupied by the rest of the division,
General Curtis rode up and made inquiries as to what there
was in front. I informed him, and told him we were out
of ammunition, and he immediately ordered me to fix bayo-
nets and charge the enemy. The brigade heard the order,
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‘and, before I could repeat it, they had fixed bayonets and
were charging over the same ground at a double quick, but
we found the enemy had retired at the same time we did, and
we returned and took up our position in the new line that
had been formed for the night. On the second day Wil-
liamson was wounded, but kept the field. The third day’s
fight was very short. The defeat of the enemy on our left
by Colonel Davis, and the loss of their two generals, Mec-
‘Cullough and McIntosh, caused them to leave for Arkansas,
and General Van Dorn, who was in command, sent word to
General Price, who commanded in our front, to make a dem-
onstration in the morning and retire by way of White river,
and, in fact, to get out as best he could. As soon as we
moved forward on the morning of the third day the enemy
retired, and we could see them retreating in great disorder,
spreading out over the hills. My brigade had the lead in
following towards White river, and had commenced captur-
ing stragglers of the enemy, but I was recalled in a short
time, and returned tohold possession of the battlefield. Wil-
liamson went personally to General Curtis to inform him of
what we had discovered, and what we thought could be ac-
complished by following the enemy in that direction, but
because Sigel’s command had fallen back toward Cassville
General Curtis held us on the field which we had fought so
" hard to win.

After this action the lieutenant colonel of the regiment
resigned. On March 23, 1862, at Keetsville, Mo., the offi-
cers unanimously recommended Williamson for the place,
stating that in the late battle of Pea Ridge he behaved with
such gallantry and bravery as to merit their hearty com-
mendation. The officers also secured the opinion of the en-
listed men, and reported them as being unanimously in‘favor

-of his promotion.

On April 4, Williamson was appointed lieutenant colonel
and took command of the regiment, as I had left it soon after
the battle of Pea Ridge, having been made a brigadier gen-
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eral for its action in that battle. I did not see the regiment
again until the Chattanooga campaign, although I was in con-
stant communication with it from the beginning until the end
of the war. Williamson communicated with me regularly,
giving me all the news in relation to it, and asking my ad-
vice in regard to nearly everything of importance connected
with it.

On the 12th of April Curtis’ army began a rather mem-
orable march from their camp near Keetsville through Mis-
souri and Arkansas to Helena, on the Mississippi river, where
they arrived on July 14, 1862. The march was long and
wearisome, and it rained continually. The force was short
of rations and was dependent upon the little that could be
found in the country. They were out of touch with the rest
" of the world, and received no mail for nearly three months.

During this march Williamson wrote me many letters.
In one, written May 16, 1862, he says:

General Curtis has been here for some time, and came out to meet us
today. I was not expecting him, but had taken great care to bring in the
regiment in good order, carrying both our national and regimental colors.
I was complimented for the appearance and good order of our regiment,
although some of the boys were entirely barefoot. We cannot get shoes.

On May 22 the unanimous recommendation of the officers

" - of the regiment for the appointment of Williamson as colonel

was forwarded to the governor, who consulted me in relation
to the appointment, as he had done in the appointment of all
officers in the regiment, and said in one of his letters to me:
“All the commissions you recommended have been sent on,
except as to the captain of the battery.” One of the under-
lying reasons for the efficiency of the Iowa troops in the field
and the confidence their superior officers had in them came
from the fact that after a regiment entered the field Gover-
nor Kirkwood invariably took the advice of the officers as to
appointments and promotions in it.

On July 381, 1862, Williamson received his commission
as colonel. On July 15 he wrote me from Helena: ‘“Can
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you not bring some influence to bear that will get this regi-
ment under your command? The men and officers desire it
very much.” T made application for the regiment several
times, but-as my commands were far away from where it was
serving, I never succeeded in obtaining its services.

The regiment remained at Helena hunting guerrillas and
reconnoitering through the country on both sides of the Mis-
sissippi river. The climate and malaria caused much sick-
ness.

On December 23, 1862, General Sherman arrived with a
fleet en route to Vicksburg. The Fourth Iowa was taken
along, with others, and assigned to General J. M. Thayer’s
brigade of Morgan’s Third Division of the right wing of the
Thirteenth Army Corps, commanded by General Steele. In
the battle of Vicksburg Bayou, Williamson was wounded,
but did not leave the field. The regiment lost heavily in
killed and wounded, but the Yazoo water that the command had
to drink ultimately caused the death of more men than were lost
in the battles of Vicksburg Bayou and Arkansas Post. In
writing to me in relation to.this attack, Williamson said:

After being under fire all day until about 3 o'clock, I received an order
to charge the enemy’s entrenchments right in the face of a battery that
was planted above them. I never had seen the ground over which I was
to pass, nor were directions given me as to the exact point where I should
make the attack. Iwas only told to go forward, and that I would be sup-.
ported by other regiments. Of course I did not want to be told a second
time, but ordered the regiment forward at a double-quick, General Thayer
going at my side. After getting under the enemy’s fire I learned what I
had not previously known, that there was immediately in front a narrow,.
deep swamp, which could only be crossed by the flank, which I was com-
pelled to do, with a direct fire in front, and a cross-fire from the batteries
on the right and left. As soon as the head of the line crossed I filed to the-
right and brought forward into line, and then we were enfiladed by what
was before us, and were 8o exposed until we gained the first line of en-
trenchments and passed some distance beyond them. Here the discovery
was made that we were not supported, and General Thayer said: “My God!
what is to be done?” Knowing that it was certain destruction to a large
portion of the regiment to fall back, and that it could be but little worse
to stay, I said to him that I would hold the position I then had until rein-
forcements came up, or until it was rendered certain that they were not:
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coming. I held the place about half an hour, until I could see none of our
troops on either flank, or in our rear, and no hope of support; then came
the perilous task of getting out. Igave the order to fall back, and got the
regiment off in good order. When I got back I found that the Thirtieth
Iowa, which was to follow, had been ordered to the support of somebody
else on the right, and the balance of the regiments which were to follow
were lying on their bellies in the timber, My regiment and I had appar-
ently been forgotten by everybody except General Thayer, who was weep-
ing like a child on account of General Morgan having ordered away the
first regiment which ‘was to support me, and halting the balance of the
brigade, which, I imagine, however, was not hard to halt. General Thayer
is a brave man, and I believe if his arrangements had not been interfered
with we would have gone entirely through the enemy’s lines and carried
the hill. There was gross mismanagement some place about General
Thayer, but none on his part.

General Thayer in his report of the battle, after mention-
ing Colonel Williamson’s name six times, says:

The conduct of the noble Fourth, both officers and men, throughout
this terrible ordeal, is worthy of the highest praise. They pressed steadily
and firmly forward, there was no flinching; they entered the enemy’s
works in splendid style. Colonel Williamson marched at the head of his
column, and by his boldness and heroic courage won my unqualified ad-
- miration. He is deserving of the favorable consideration of his govern-
ment. He was struck by three balls. but not severely wounded, and re-
mained on the field the balance of the day. ’

The action of Colonel Williamson and his regiment in this
attack received the commendation of his superior officers;
and a board of officers authorized the regiment to place upon
its banners, “First at Chickasaw Bayou.” This is the high-
est compliment that could be paid to Colonel Williamson and
his regiment for their action.

Colonel Williamson and his regiment returned from
Chickasaw Bayou with Sherman’s army, under the command
of General McClernand, and took part in the battle of Ar-
kansas Post. In writing me. in relation to this battle, Wil-
liamson said:

The regiment was under fire all day at Arkansas Post, when another
charge was ordered, but immediately countermanded, as the enemy ran up
the white flag, just at the moment the regiment was ready to charge. If
we had made the last charge, but few would have been lefi, as the enemy’s
entrenchments and rifle pits were well formed, and we would have been
compelled to pass over a very level, open piece of ground to reach them.
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The army returned to the Mississippi river, and landed
at Young’s Point, opposite Vicksburg. Thayer’s brigade
camped upon the levee. The river was very high, and the
men had to throw down brusb, trees and debris to lie upon
to keep out of the water. On the 2d of April the regiment
moved with Steele’s division to Black Bayou, Rolling Fork
and Sunflower, fighting guerrillas and Confederate forces all
the time. Williamson said:

The expedition destroyed enormous quantities of corn and other sup-
plies, burning great quantities of cotton, cotton gins, houses, etc. The
march was through a very prolific and fertile country, and slaves by the
thousands joined the columns, bringing all their belongings with them,
expressing great joy and offering prayers for Mr. Lincoln. The fervent
shouting of “Glory to God” was impressed upon my mind, and formed
scenes never to be forgotten.

On our return Colonel Lorenzo Thomas visited our army, sent by the
president to state the facts to the army and obtain its opinion as to organ-
izing colored regiments and mustering them into the service. All the offi-
cers present were requested to express themselves upon the subject, and I
was the first called upon. I favored the organization of the negroes, say-
ing I believed they would make gooa soldiers, as I had seen many cases of
bravery and devotion on their part, and had no doubt they would become
efficient under proper officers. Somewhat to my surprise the short speech
I had made was applauded, as I had no knowledge how the army felt. It
was decided by Colonel Thomas before he got down from the wagon from
which he spoke to the command that he would then and there detail offi-
cers to form regiments out of the negroes who had followed General
Steele’s command in the late expedition. This was one of the most deci-
sive and notable incidents I witnessed during the war. '

After this expedition, Colonel Williamson took part,
under Geeneral Grant, in the campaign against Vicksburg,
and was camped above Vicksburg on the Mississippi river,
near the head of the proposed canal. On January 23, 1862,
in writing to me about the canal, he said: E :

The canal which we are working on will never amount to anything for
the reason that if a sufficient rise should take place to wash it out, it would
wash the whole army away, as there is not a spot within fifty miles that
does not overflow, except Vicksburg. I have not morethan three hundred
men fpr duty; the whole army is but little better than a hospital. I fear
that I have lost my own health; I have not seen a well day for three
months, and have lost thirty pounds of flesh, but I shall never give up
while T can walk. '
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On May 1, 1863, Williamson, with his regiment, com-
menced the march to Grand Gulf, crossing after the rest of
the army, and took part in the capture of Jackson. After
two days, they moved from Jackson, by way of Clinton, Bol-
ton and Bridgeport, to Vicksburg. During all this time
Williamson was very ill, but remained with his command.
On May 18, the Fourth Iowa, under the eye of General
Sherman, fought its way to a position not far from where it
made its first attack upon Vicksburg. On the 19th Colonel
Williamson took part in the attack, but the ground over
which they had to move was impassable, and Colonel Milo
Smith, of the Twenty-ninth Towa, was killed while consulting
with Williamson as to how they should get their regiments
out without serious loss. Up to the surrender his command
worked at sapping and mining, getting close up to the rebel
entrenchments. Colonel Williamson was obliged to take a
leave of absence before the surrender of Vicksburg on account.
of his own illness and the critical illness of his wife. He
returned to his command within thirty days, but this leave,
no doubt, prevented his being recommended for promotion,
for at a later day when General Sherman met Mrs. William-
son, he said: “You are the little woman for whom General
Williamson sacrificed the hope of promotion by going to see,”
and then added, with kindly humor, “I don’t blame him
now.”

Upon Williamson’s return to Vicksburg he was assigned
to duty in command of a good strong fighting brigade, the
Third Brigade, First Division, Fifteenth Army Corps.

General Grant’s general order, dated Vicksburg, Miss.,
October 15, promulgates the report .of a board of officers,
appointed for the purpose of determining the names of the
battles that the regiments of'the Fifteenth Army Corps were
entitled to inscribe upon their colors and guidons. The re-
port authorized the Fourth Iowa to inscribe upon its colors
and guidons, “Pea Ridge,” “First at Chickasaw Bayou,’”
“Arkansas Post,” ‘“Vicksburg, siege and assault, 19th and
22d,” “Jackson.”
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On the 22d of September, 1863, Williamson’s brigade
took steamers to Memphis and marched to Corinth, Miss., °
where Colonel Williamson took command of the Second
Brigade, known as the Iowa Brigade, First Division, General
Osterhaus commanding, Fifteenth Army Corps, General
Sherman commanding, and took part in the movement to-
wards Decatur, Ala., fighting at Dalton Station on the 20th,
at Cherokee Station on the 21st, where Colonel Torrence of
the Thirtieth Iowa was killed, at Barton Station on the 26th,
and at Tuscumbia on the 27th, taking the town. As show-
ing the enemy’s force in front, Colonel Williamson quotes
my dispatch to General Sherman as being Wheeler’s and
Lee’s divisions of cavalry, Walker’s and Roddy’s brigades of
cavalry, and Forrest with 350 men south of the Tennessee
and east of Tuscumbia. On the 30th Williamson’s brigade.
crossed the Tennessee at Chickasaw Landing, and marched
with the rest of the Army of the Tennessee to Chattanooga.
They reached Stevenson on November 16, and he said: “The
road from there to Chattanooga was well nigh impassable,
not only from being cut up by the large trains, but from the
large number of dead mules left in the roadway.” On No-
vember 23 they arrived at Lookout creek. The pontoon
bridge crossing the Tennessee was broken that night, and
the First Division, Fifteenth Army Corps, General Osterhaus
commanding, was assigned to Geeneral Hooker’s command.

On November 24, 1864, Colonel Williamson’s brigade
carried the point of Lookout Mountain, fighting above the
clouds; it was the first brigade to break through the enemy’s
lines, and greatly distinguished itself. I have this from
Colonel Daniel Butterfield, General Hooker’s chief of staff,
who informed me that in going to Geary’s division, which
came from the Army of ‘the Potomac, seeking to ascertain
the position and condition of the troops, he found Osterhaus’
division furthest advanced, and troops of Williamson’s brig-
ade just capturing Lookout Point; and when the New York
monument was erected he intended that the names of the reg-
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iments composing Williamson’s brigade should appear on
that monument as having captured the point.

Greneral Osterhaus in his report, after describing the tak-
ing of the point of Lookout Mountain, says:

The rebels charged with great vehemence, and attempted to regain the
numerous entrenchments they had thrown up all around to the White
house. They were, however, signally repulsed, and my regiments held this
important point during the night. The enemy, fully aware of the import-
ance of the position gained by us, made several attempts to dislodge us
in the fore part of the night. . . . . After midnight he abstained, and
commenced his retreat toward Missionary Ridge.

Greneral Osterhaus in his report upon Missionary Ridge,
says:

With a view of flanking the enemy’s position in Roswell’s Gap, General
Woods, with the First brigade, was ordered to take the ravine on the right.
Colonel Williamson’s Second brigade ascended the steep Missionary Ridge,

. striking both their flanks, and, their line of retreat threatened,
the enemy hastily evacuated the gap. . . . . They had to leave their
artillery, wagons, ambulances and subsistence stores in our hands.

Speaking of the second attack, he said:

The Second brigade, Williamson’s, fired a salvo into the terrified rebels.
. . . . Finding their escape impossible, they obeyed my orders and
laid down their arms. My division took over two thousand prisoners and
one piece of artillery.

Writing of the battle of Ringgold, fought November 28,
Williamson says:

Taylor’s Ridge, at Ringgold, is a bold, rocky faced ridge, and very dif-
ficult of ascent. Bragg’s army had all the time they wanted to get there,
and to form in line on this crest almost out of any danger from an attack-
ing force. I donot know where the order originated, but I was ordered by
General Osterhaus to go forward, keeping my right well toward the gap.
I endeavored to go up, and did go up, under a killing fire, in which I saw
more valuable lives thrown away, absolutely sacrificed, without any appar- -
ent purpose or reason (as it afterward developed}, than I have ever seen
out of so emall a number before, but except what General Osterhaus says
in his report, this whole battle seems to have been lost sight of in history,
so far as I can learn. In the attack my brigade lost over eight hundred
men.*

*General Grant, in his “Personal Memoirs,” vol. 2, p. 91, speaking of Hooker’s at-
tack, says: ‘‘This attack was unfortunate, and cost us some men unnecessarily.”

Charles A. Dana, Assistant Secretary of War, in his dispatch to Secretary Stanton,
dated Ringgold, November 28, 1863, 8 a. m., in volume 31, part2, page 70, of the Rebel-
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After Chattanooga, General Sherman in his report, says:

I must say that it is but justice that colonels of regiments who have so
long and so well commanded brigades shall be commissioned to the grade
which they have filled with so much usefulness and credit to the public ser-
vice, namely: . . . . J.A.Williamson, Fourth Regiment Iowa volun-
teers.

For the action of Colonel Williamson and the Fourth
Towa in the battles of Lookout Mountain, Missionary Ridge
and Ringgold, General Grant, on February 4, 1864, upon
the report of the board of officers, authorized the regiment
to inscribe “Chattanooga’ upon its colors.

After the battle of Chattanooga, Colonel Williamson with
his brigade returned to Woodville, Ala., and remained for
the winter. On January 1, 1864, the Fourth Towa re-enlist-
ed. On February 26th they started for home on veteran fur-
lough, and arrived at Des Moines on March 9th. The city
gave them a magnificent reception, and the legislature
adopted the following resolutions:

WaeRrEAS, We have learned that the veterans of the Fourth Iowa have
re-enlisted for three years, or during the war, and that they are now
on their way to this city on furlough, to enjoy for a short time the bless-
ings of the domestic circle, and the citizens of Des Moines are preparing
to give them a proper reception; and deeming it our duty as their repre-

lion Records, has this to say of the fight at Ringgold: *‘Yesterday the first great
fault in this admirable campaign occurred at this place. General Hooker arrived
here about 9 a. m. with Geary’s Division, Twelfth Corps, Osterhaus’ Division of
Sherman’s army, lately commanded by Woods, and two divisions, Fourteenth Corps,
under Palmer. The enemy were drawn up in the narrow gorge where the railroad
passes between Taylor’s Ridge on the right and White Oak Ridge on the left, the two
ridges being, in fact, but parts of the same range of hills. It was a very dangerous
defile to attack in front, and common sense plainly dictated that it should be turned.
This could be done without difficulty by way of White Oak Ridge, which can be
passed with ease in many places, while Taylor's Ridge is steeper, though infinitely
easier to go over than Missionary Ridge at Chattanooga. However, Hooker attacked
in front, and the result was officially reported by him last night in the loss of 500
killed and wounded, where there was no necessity of lusing fifty. Having been repulsed
in his first attempt, Hooker tried to turn the position, but in this blundered yet worse,
for he sent his troops through the nearest gap in White Qak Ridge, not more than
halt a mile distant from the gorge, where the movement was lully visible to the
enemy, and where they had time to prepare a destructive cross-fire, which made this
attack quite as fatal as the former. Having thus failed in this flank movement, in
which the Twelfth Missouri lost nearly all its officers, he sent Geary's troops again to
the front and finally carried it by Geary’s New York regiments. The troops of
Osterhaus suffered most.”
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sentatives to express our appreciation of their gallantry and their services
in the suppression of the rebellion; therefore, be it

Resolved, by the General Assembly of the Stale of Iowa, That we have
watched with pride and admiration the Fourth Iowa Infantry, as step by
step they have borne the ensign of the free, on the memorable fields of
Pea Ridge, Chickasaw Bayou, Arkansas Post, Jackson, Vicksburg, siege
and assault, Cherokee, Caney Creek, Tuscumbia, Lookout Mountain, Mis-
sionary Ridge, and Ringgold, and in their long and weary marches, endur-
ing all the privations and hardships of a soldier’s life, they have toiled on
and fought for home, kindred and country until the mute graves of their
comrades in arms point in sadness to the remnants of brave men, who
have honored their State and added to the glory of the nation.

Resolved, That in the re-enlistment of said regiment, we have the
strongest evidence of their attachment to the principles of civil liberty;
and that their love of country is paramount to all other considerations, and
entitles them to the lasting honor and gratitude of those whose firesides
have been protected by their arms.

Resolved, That as a token of our confidence and regard for the distin-
guished services of that regiment, we will adjourn and attend in a body
the reception of the veterans on their return to this city.

Resolved, That the governor be requested to present them with a copy
of these resolutions, and on behalf of the members of this general assem-
bly bid them welcome to the capital of the State whose honer they have
kept so sacredly untarnished.

When their furlough expired they returned to Woodville.
Williamson, in writing me from Des Moines April 1, 1864,
said: “The boys have been well received everywhere in Towa
and have been guilty of only one lawless act, and in that I
think they are sustained by nearly all loyal men.”

On the first of May the Second Brigade, First Division,
Fifteenth Army Corps, under Colonel Williamson, left
Woodville for Chattanooga to take part in the Atlanta cam-
paign.

In the battle of Resaca they attacked with the rest of
the Fifteenth Corps, and Williamson’s brigade occupied the
town,

At the battle of Dallas his brigade held the extreme right
of the Army of the Tennessee, and held a position in advance
of his corps, and was continually attacked for two or three
days.

At the great battle of Atlanta on the 22d of July Wil-

VoL. VI-12.
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liamgon was on the extreme right of the Army of the Ten-
nessee. His division was commanded by General Charles
R. Wood, and when General J. C. Brown’s division of Stew-
art’s Confederate corps broke through Morgan L. Smith’s
division of the Fifteenth Corps on the Augusta road, captur-
ing DeGrasse’s battery and threatening to cut our army in
two, Colonel Williamson with his brigade, under the eye and
orders of General Sherman, moved down the flank of Brown’s
division, while a brigade of the Sixteenth Army Corps under
Colonel Mersey of the Ninth Illinois Infantry, which Gen-
eral Logan had come to me to obtain, moved on the direct
front,vand the two recaptured the line and retook the bat-
tery. Williamson says:

I left the Ninth Towa in the works and sent the Fourth Iowa to the
right to occupy a rebel battery which commanded the head of a ravine
which led to our line in the only piace where there were no entrenchments.
The regiment had not more than formed before it was assaulted by a brig-
ade of rebel infantry under Colonel Baker, and a very stubborn fight en-
sued. The regiment nobly held the position and finally repulsed the as-
sault, infliecting great loss upon the rebels in killed, wounded and prison-
ers.

In this attack Lieutenant Colonel Nichols, who command-
ed the regiment, was wounded.

In writing of the battle of Ezra Church on the 28th of
August, Williamson said:

General Logan, commanding the Fifteenth Army Corps,came to me on
foot after the battle had opened. as it was impossible to come on horse-
back, and cautioned me, saying, from his knowledge of the way the enemy
was moving, that I would have a hard timne, and the success of the battle
might depend upon what was done on iy front. He said, “If you will say
that you can and will hold this point, I shall feel comparatively safe as to
the result.” I answered him that [ would do my best; that he knew my
command and knew they were not much accustomed to giving way, and
that we would hold that point as long as there was & man left. General
Logan had feared the determined effort of the enemy that was wmade to
break the line at that point was such as I had never witnessed during the
whole war. They came in double lines, and kept coming. The nature of
the ground, however, was very much in our favor, and it appeared that if
our fire was too high for the front line it was sure to catch the next, or the
next, and later, when I looked over the battle-field, it had the appearance
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-of a whole line of battle that had fallen with the frontline only a few yards
away from us. This was the most sickening sight I had ever witnessed.
It looked more like a slaughter than a battle.

Governor Stone, of Iowa, visited the Army of the Ten-
nessee on the day of this battle, and General Sherman in
cconversing with him, said: “Colonel Williamson is at the
front with his brigade, pitching in, as he always does.”

On September 1 Colonel Williamson wasslightly wounded
in the hand.

In the final swing of Sherman’s army to the rear of At-
lanta, Williamson’s brigade took part in all the engagements.
It won additional laurels at Lovejoy Station, when the Fourth
Towa, urider the eye of the commander of the division, de-
feated the enemy and saved one of our batteries,

Williamson, in his report of the whole campaign, Chatta-
nooga to Atlanta, says:

So closes the record of this imemorable campaign. I could not make
it more brief and do justice to the regiments of my brigade. The vast
-amount of labor done by this command, in addition to the marching and
fighting, and the cheerfulness and zeal with which it has been performed,
is suflicient to encourage the best hopes for the success of our army. The
-casualties of the brigade during the campaign had been 280.

Greneral Charles R. Wood, commanding the division, com-
mended Colonel Williamson for gallantiry, especially on the
22d and 28th of July, also Colonel S. D. Nichols, command-
ing the Fourth Towa Infantry.

Major General Logan, commanding the Fifteenth Corps,
-on September 13, in making his report, asked for the promo-
tion of Colonel Williamson to the rank of brigadier general.
When the campaign was over, Geeneral Sherman wrote the
following characteristic letter;

HEeapQUARTERS MILITARY DI1visioN oF THE MissIssIPPI,
In reE Fierp, GAYLESVILLE, ALa., Oct. 24, 1864, E
General H. W. Halleck, Chief of Staff, etc.:

GenERAL: I have always designed to canvass the claims to promotion
of all aspirants in the army, so as to save the president the invidious task
-of judging among so many worthy men, all of whom can only be known
to him by the record. But events and movements have followed each other
-50 rapidly that my army commanders have not been able to attend to the
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matter, but have sent into my office the detached papers of each. These
I enclose herewith, endorsed with my own individual opinion. I have not
General Thomas’ list, but will instruct him to send it direct from Nash-
ville, where he now is. If necessary to promote to divisions and brigades.
the officers now exercising the rank of major general and brigadier gen-
eral, it be necessary to create vacancies, I do think the exigencies of the
country would warrant the mustering out of the same number of generals.
now on the list that have not done service in the past year.

Among the colonels aspiring to the rank of brigadier general I can
only name Colonel J. A. Williamson, Fourth Iowa; Colonel Thomas J. Har-
rison, Eighth Indiana Cavalry, and Colonel R. H. G. Minty, of Second
Michigan Cavalry, who have long and well commanded brigades, and who
seem to have no especial friends to aid them in advancement.

o W. T. 8BaErMaN, Major General.

After the battle at Lovejoy Station, Williamson’s brigade
returned to Atlanta, and took part from October 3 to 26 in
the pursuit of Hood’s army to the rear, and then returned
again to Atlanta.

On December 19, 1864, Colonel Williamson was made
brevet brigadier general for gallantry and good conduct in
the campaigns against Vicksburg, Chattanooga and Atlanta.

In the march to the sea, Williamson’s brigade became
the Third of the First Division, Fifteenth Corps. They left
Atlanta November 15, and took part in the fights at Gris-
woldsville on November 22, Ogeechee river December 7 and
9, and Savannah December 10 to 21.

After the capture of Savannah Colonel Williamson was.
appointed a brigadier general on January 13, 1865, and soon
after left his command and returned to Iowa, by way of
Washington and New York. Upon learning this I immedi-
ately applied to the war department for his assignment to my
command, the Department of Missouri, but received word
from the war department that his commission had not yet
been signed, but was on the president’s table. On March 14,
1865, he was appointed brevet major general, U. S. V. It
was May 20 before his commissions and orders reached him,
and early in June he reported to me at St. Louis, and I as-
signed him to the command of the District of Missouri, in
which position he served until July, 1865, when I relieved
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him from his command and ordered him to report to me in
person for duty in the Indian campaigns. On this campaign
he was assigned to duty on my staff, and accompanied me to
Colorado, and north to Fort Laramie and the Powder river,
While he was with me the order for his muster out was issued
August 24, 1865, but he did not receive it until he returned
to Fort Leavenworth; he was mustered out November 13,
1865. .

The government awarded him a medal of honor for the
following service: “Leading his regiment against a superior
force strongly entrenched, and holding his ground when all
support had been withdrawn.” This was a suitable closing
of his military career as a soldier in the civil war.

While he was in the army, the Towa State Republican
convention in 1864 elected Colonel Williamson chairman of
its delegation to the National Republican convention, which
met that year in Baltimore, but he was then engaged in the
Atlanta campaign, and declined to leave the field. Four
years later he served as chairman of the Iowa delegation at
the national convention held in Chicago.

In 1866, after the close of the war, General Williamson
returned to Des Moines and resumed his law practice. He
removed that year to Fort Smith, Ark., and while residing
there returned to Towa soon after I was nominated for con-
gress, and upon his own motion stumped my district with
Governor Kirkwood. He wrote many letters to the comrades
and his friends. My duties were such that I was obliged to
be absent from the district. In a letter from Des Moines,
dated September 28, 1866, he said:

I regret that I-did not see you when I was out at your place. Kirk-
wood and I went the rounds and spoke at the places advertised for Kirk-
wood, and we found everything all right. You will be elected by a large
majority, larger than any man ever had in the district.

In 1867 General Williamson was talked of and urged to
become a candidate for governor, and his own county sent a
full delegation in his favor.
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He had been offered an appointment in the regular army,
and on January 3, 1867, wrote me in relation to it as fol-
lows: “I could not accept a position in the regular army.
My family is large, and are of the age to need me at home.”

In 1863 General Williamson and myself were delegates
to the Republican national convention.

In the fall of 1868 Williamson took charge of the land
and lot agency of the Union Pacific Railroad west of Green
River, and was with me until the completion of that road in
1869. He then became largely interested in western lands
and mines, and went abroad in those interests. The panic
of 1873 stopped for a tlme all negotiations in London, and
he returned home.

In 1876 General Grant tendered him the position of com-
missioner of the general land office, which he accepted; he
remained in that position until 1881. During this time he
was chairman of the public land commission, created by act
of congress May, 1879, to codify and review the laws for the
disposal of public lands, and to examine and report upon the
character of arable and arid lands, and the mining and tim-
ber lands. In this examination he rendered very valuable
services to the government.

In 1881 he became land commissioner of the Atlantic &
Pacific railroad, subsequently its general solicitor, and finally
its president. Upon leaving this position in 1892, he retired
from active life.

In 1891 he married his second wife, Miss Maria Hall,
who survives him. '

For seven years he has been a resident of New York city,
spending his summers abroad, or at his summer home in
Jamestown, Rhode Island. In 1900 it was my pleasure to
accompany him to Carlsbad, Austria. We spent three de-
lightful months together at this Spa and on the continent,
and finally separated at Paris, where he remained and I re-
turned home.

During his seven years residence in New York we were
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frequently together at the club, and socially, and we spent.
many delightful days and evenings together, discussing old
experiences and campaigns. It was then I learned what a
devoted student and reader my old comrade was, and how
much he had gathered up and stored away of what he had
seen in his travels and from his extensive reading. He took
great interest in all scientific works, especially in connection
with the lives, character and habits of the ancients, and vis-
ited many of the places where these investigations were being
made. ,

He was also in continuous communication with the old
soldiers who served under him, aiding them with advice and
financially., In his later years he attendéd yearly the meet-
ings of the Society of the Army of the Tennessee, and his
death will bring great sorrow to that army, as he took an
active interest in all its doings and knew personally nearly
every one of its members. He was also a regular attendant
of the meetings of the New York Commandery of the Loyal
Legion, LaFayette Post, G. A. R., and of the Union League
club of New York. He was also a member of the Army and
Navy club of Washington.

It was only within the last year that his health began to
fail, and almost up to the day of his death he was planning
for the future, but he lay down and went to sleep, quietly
and peacefully, just as he wished to, and was laid at rest in
Rock Creek cemetery, Washington, D. C. His pall-bearers
were Greneral . M. Dodge, Hon. Frank W. Palmer, Hon.
M. D. O’Connell, General Alfred E. Bates, U. S. A., Captain
Charles Train, U. S. N., Mr. Colgate Hoyt, and Mr. C. M.
Whittington. Representatives of the government, delega-
tions from the different societies of which he was a member,
and from the general land office, were present, and with
many others remembered him with beautiful floral tributes.

General Williamson leaves a widow and four daughters
by his first wife—Miss Haidee Williamson, Mrs. Warner B.
Bayley, wife of Commander Bayley of the navy, Mrs. George
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R. Stearns of Augusta, Ga., and Mrs. Roy Jones of Santa
Monica, California.

General Williamson was of fine, commanding appearance
and inspired confidence in all with whom he was associated.
He was prompt in action, a gallant soldier, a genial and
model citizen. The official reports show him to have beena
faithful and efficient public officer, and the war records tes-
tify to the truth of the remarks made by General Grant,
when he visited Des Moines and inquired particularly about
General Williamson of “Ret” Clarkson; he spoke of him in
the highest terms as an excellent soldier who had received
less reward for his services and the work he accomplished
than any other officer of his rank in the service.

His own State of Iowa has placed his medallion bust on
its soldiers’ monument in testimony of the honor he has

_brought her, and the credit he had done himself in the civil
war, and every comrade who served under him will say with
me, that he has answered the last roll call beloved and regret-
ted by all his comrades, and by everyone who knew him.

New York City, OcTOBER, 1902,

THUS THE SOUTHERN boundary of our State is at last set-
tled and no future uncertainty or diffiulty will be experienced
on account of it. The commissioners acted throughout with
the ntmost harmony and good feeling, and the line they have
surveyed will, no doubt, be finally made by the proper author-
ities, the boundary of the two states forever.— Western Dem-
ocrat, Andrew, ITowa, October 9, 1850.

THE RECENT RAINS have go raised the streams between
this place and Galena, that the mail carrier has so far been
unable toreach thatcity. We are consequently unable to lay
before our readers our usual quantity of eastern news. The
mails from the south bring us only an occasional paper, owing
to the same cause. The Maquoketa and Wabsipinicon are
almost impassable. —The Western Democral, May 28, 1851.
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